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DECISION
Respondent, the Missouri Real Estate Commission (the MREC), revoked Petitioner Laura Lenise Greer’s real estate broker-salesperson license and she appeals. We conclude revocation is proper.
Procedure

The MREC revoked Ms. Greer’s real estate broker-salesperson license on July 9, 2012, under § 339.100.5(5), RSMo
, and she filed a complaint with this Commission on August 23, 2012.  

The parties agreed to submit this matter on the record. They filed stipulated facts and exhibits on September 26, 2012.  Ms. Greer filed suggestions in support of her complaint on November 6, 2012. The MREC filed a motion for summary decision with suggestions in support, and a response to Ms. Greer’s suggestions, on December 14, 2013.  We gave Ms. Greer until December 31, 2012 to file a reply, but she filed nothing further.
Findings of Fact

1. Ms. Greer participated in a mortgage fraud scheme in May 2005.

2. The MREC issued Ms. Greer a real estate broker-salesperson license in November 2005, and it is presently active.

3. Subparagraph (5) of § 339.100.5, RSMo, regarding mortgage fraud, was enacted in 2008 and became effective on August 28 of that year.

4. On December 17, 2009, the grand jury for the United State District Court, Western District of Missouri, filed a 52-count indictment against Ms. Greer and others, in the case styled, U.S. v. Charles E. Walker, et al., case no. 09-03093-01/17-CR-S-ODS.  
5. Ms. Greer pleaded not guilty on December 21, 2009.
6. The indictment described, among other things, the “scheme” in which Ms. Greer and certain other defendants had participated.  They:

· “bought and re-sold residential real estate properties among themselves for increasingly inflated values.”  Indictment, ¶ 45.
· “defrauded various mortgage lenders by artificially inflating the sales prices of homes they purchased, and submitting false loan applications to the lenders in support of their mortgage loan requests….All of the loan applications failed to notify the lender that a portion of the loan proceeds would be funneled back to the borrower, and others, after closing under the guise of remodeling or repair costs, or for the borrower’s use in making mortgage payments on the property.”  Id. at ¶ 47.

· “prepared the above-described home mortgage loan applications that contained material false statements and omissions of requested material facts in Greene County, Missouri, and elsewhere in the Western District of Missouri, and submitted them electronically over telephone lines to lenders at locations outside Missouri.  Defendants then verified as correct false income, employment, and sales price information contained in those applications.”  Id. at ¶ 50.
· obtained lenders’ approval of “[m]ortgages…based on the false statements and fraudulent representations contained in the loan applications.”  Id. at ¶ 51.

7. The indictment, ¶ 75, provided additional detail about Ms. Greer’s activities:
From on or about March 3, 2005, through on or about May 16, 2006, defendant LAURA GREER purchased, and later re-financed, a piece of residential real estate from defendant JAMES H. POWELL (GREER’s father) at an artificially inflated price. In exchange for her purchase and after closing, GREER received $226,718.43 from JAMES H. POWELL that she did not disclose to the mortgage lender.  GREER also listed false income information on her residential loan application that was relied upon by the lender to approve her loan request. In total, GREER caused mortgage lenders to transmit, by wire, approximately $644,440.94 in loan proceeds from a place outside of the State of Missouri to a bank account in Springfield, Greene County, Missouri, through false representations and omissions of material facts contained in the loan application and settlement statement.
8. Count 45 of the indictment charged Ms. Greer and other defendants with wire fraud, as follows:  

150.  The allegations made in paragraphs 45 through 53 and 56 through 75 of this Indictment are incorporated by reference in this Count to describe the scheme.

151.  On or about May 26, 2005, in Greene County, in the Western District of Missouri, and elsewhere, defendants JAMES H. POWELL, a/k/a Jimmie Powell, CHARLES PURSELY, and LAURA GREER, aiding and abetting each other, for the purpose of executing the scheme, did knowingly cause to be transmitted electronically over telephone lines in interstate commerce by means of a wire communication certain writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, that is, home mortgage loan proceeds in the aggregate amount of $644,440.94 from a First Magnus account at UBS in New York, New York, to a Preferred Title account at Citizens National in Springfield, Greene County, Missouri, for the purchase of 3647 E. Prestwick, Springfield, Greene County, Missouri, for $799,000 by LAURA GREER; all in violation of Title 18, United State Code, Sections 1343 and 2[.]

9. Ms. Greer pled guilty to Count 45 on July 21, 2011.

10. The district court issued an amended judgment on January 27, 2012, finding Ms. Greer guilty of wire fraud under 18 U.S.C. § 1343 and 18 U.S.C. § 2 for an offense that occurred on May 26, 2005 and as described in Count 45 of the indictment.  She was sentenced to a five-year probation, was ordered to pay an assessment of $100 and total restitution of $533,045.14, and was not ordered to pay any fine.

11. Pursuant to notice, the MREC held a hearing on June 13, 2012 to determine whether Ms. Greer’s guilty plea was grounds for revocation of her license under § 339.100.5(5).  She appeared in person and with counsel, and presented evidence.
12. The MREC concluded that the federal crime of wire fraud in connection with a home mortgage scheme was a crime similar in nature to mortgage fraud as defined in § 570.310, RSMo, and so revoked Ms. Greer’s license on July 9, 2012, pursuant to § 339.100.5(5). 
Conclusions of Law

 
Ms. Greer’s 2011 guilty plea to an offense similar in nature to mortgage fraud is grounds for revocation of her real estate broker-salesperson license.
We have jurisdiction under § 339.100.6, RSMo.  The MREC has the burden of proving Ms. Greer engaged in conduct for which the law allows discipline.  Mo. Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App. E.D. 1989). 

Ms. Greer argues that the MREC cannot meet its burden because the federal crime of wire fraud to which she pled guilty is not “an offense[]…similar in nature” to the state crime of mortgage fraud, as required by § 339.100.5 for revocation.

She also argues that the subparagraph (5), mortgage fraud provision in § 339.100.5, which became effective in 2008, must be applied prospectively so as to avoid an unconstitutional result in her case.  She argues that because she participated in the fraud scheme in 2005—before the effective date of subparagraph (5)—revoking her license would be a retrospective application of the law to her, notwithstanding that her guilty plea occurred in 2011, after the effective date of the law.  
Finally, she argues that applying subparagraph (5) to revoke her license would violate her rights of due process and to be free from ex post facto laws. 

A. Background
The MREC is responsible for licensing real estate brokers and salespersons. §§ 339.020 and .120, RSMo.  By law, the MREC must revoke or cannot issue a license when the licensee or applicant has engaged in certain activity:  
5. Notwithstanding other provisions of this section, a broker or salesperson's license shall be revoked, or in the case of an applicant, shall not be issued, if the licensee or applicant has pleaded guilty to, entered a plea of nolo contendere to, or been found guilty of any of the following offenses or offenses of a similar nature established under the laws of this, any other state, the United States, or any other country, notwithstanding whether sentence is imposed: 

(1) Any dangerous felony as defined under section 556.061 or murder in the first degree; 

(2) [Specified] sexual offenses…; 

(3) [Specified] offenses against the family and related offenses…; 

(4) [Specified] offenses involving child pornography and related offenses…; and 

(5) Mortgage fraud as defined in section 570.310. 
§ 339.100.5, RSMo (emphasis added).  Subparagraph (5), relating to mortgage fraud, became effective in August 2008.  2008 Mo. Laws 520-523 (H.B. 2188).

Subparagraph (5) contains an internal reference to § 570.310, RSMo, the law establishing the crime of mortgage fraud, which was also codified in H.B. 2188.   2008 Mo. Laws 528.  As relevant here, § 570.310 provides:  

1. It is unlawful for a person, in connection with the application for or procurement of a loan secured by real estate to willfully: 

(1) Employ a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud; 

(2) Make an untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statement made, in the light of the circumstances under which it is made, not misleading; 

(3) Receive any portion of the purchase, sale, or loan proceeds, or any other consideration paid or generated in connection with a real estate closing that such person knew involved a violation of this section; or

(4) Influence, through extortion or bribery, the development, reporting, result, or review of a real estate appraisal, except that this subsection does not prohibit a mortgage lender, mortgage broker, mortgage banker, real estate licensee, or other person from asking the appraiser to do one or more of the following: 

(a) Consider additional property information; 

(b) Provide further detail, substantiation, or explanation for the appraiser's value conclusion; or 

(c) Correct errors in the appraisal report in compliance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. 
***
2. Such acts shall be deemed to constitute mortgage fraud. 

3. Mortgage fraud is a class C felony…. 
Ms. Greer pled guilty in federal court to violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343, which provides: 
Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both. If the violation occurs in relation to, or involving any benefit authorized, transported, transmitted, transferred, disbursed, or paid in connection with, a presidentially declared major disaster or emergency (as those terms are defined in section 102 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. 5122), or affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

B.  The federal crime is similar in nature to the state crime

The MREC argues that the elements of both offenses are similar and that the facts to which Ms. Greer admitted in connection with her federal guilty plea are facts that support a violation of the state law.  We agree.

Preliminarily, we note that labeling the state and federal crimes as “mortgage fraud” and “wire fraud,” respectively, is simply convenient shorthand.  The offenses are defined by law.  Under § 570.310, a person commits the state crime of mortgage fraud when, “in connection with the application for or procurement of a loan secured by real estate[,]” she “employ[s] a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud”; makes untrue statements of or omits material facts; receives purchase, sale, or loan proceeds in violation of the law; or unlawfully influences an appraisal. 
Under 18 U.S.C. § 1343, a person commits the federal crime of wire fraud when she engages in a “scheme or artifice to defraud” involving “money or property,” and uses a means of transmission (communication by mail, wire, radio or television) in interstate or foreign commerce to execute the scheme. The penalty for wire fraud is enhanced “[i]f the violation …affects a financial institution.”  Id.  

We must next compare the offenses to determine whether they are “similar in nature” as the phrase is used in § 339.100.5. The statute does not define the phrase. Therefore, we give the words their plain and ordinary meaning, as found in the dictionary.  E&B Granite, Inc. v. Director of Revenue, 331 S.W.3d 314, 318 (Mo. banc 2011).  “Similar” means

1 :  having characteristics in common : very much alike : comparable … 2 : alike in substance or essentials : corresponding [.] 
Webster’s Third New Int’l Dictionary Unabridged 2120 (1986).

And “nature” means 
2 a : the essential character or constitution of something < the ~ of the controversy >… b :  the distinguishing properties of something < the ~ of mathematics > … 6 : kind, order, or general character < most of his public acts are of a ceremonial ~ … >

Id. at 1507-08.
The crimes have characteristics in common, are very much alike in substance or essentials, and are comparable, in terms of their essential character, constitution, kind, or general character.  Both penalize schemes to defraud that involve money or property, and financial institutions or lenders.  While the federal wire fraud statute may criminalize more bad acts than the state mortgage fraud statute, the federal statute includes a specific punishment for bad acts affecting a financial institution, greater than the punishment that applies when the bad acts do not.  
We further note that proof of the crimes can draw on the same core of operative facts.  Here, Ms. Greer’s federal guilty plea was based on facts that appear to neatly satisfy the elements of the state crime under § 570.310:  

· “In connection with the application for or procurement of a loan secured by real estate” − Ms. Greer submitted false application to lenders for mortgage loans, and obtained loans based on those applications.
· “[E]mploys a device, scheme or artifice to defraud”; “[m]ake[s] an untrue statement of a material fact or…omit[s]…a material fact”;  or “[r]eceive[s] any portion of the purchase, sale, or loan proceeds, or any other consideration paid or generated in connection with a real estate closing that such person knew involved a violation of this section” – Together with other defendants, Ms. Greer bought and resold real estate properties for increasingly inflated values; did not tell lenders that a portion of the loan proceeds would be funneled back to her; submitted false applications electronically over the telephone lines and fraudulently verified the content of the applications as correct; obtained lenders’ approval based on the fraudulent applications; obtained over $644,000 in loan proceeds from a mortgage lender outside Missouri by wire transfer to a bank account within Missouri; and listed false income on her own mortgage application.
Indeed, federal prosecutions for wire fraud, where the underlying bad act is a mortgage scheme, do not appear to be unusual.  E.g., U.S. v. Javell, 695 F.3d 707, 709-710 (7th Cir. 2012)(prosecution under 18 USC § 1343 for mortgage-based wire fraud); U.S. v. Caldwell, 560 F.3d 1214, 1215-1218 (10th Cir. 2009) (same); U.S. v. Stalnaker, 571 F.3d 428, 432-434 (5th Cir. 2009)(same); U.S. v. Edelmann, 458 F.3d 791, 799-801 (8th Cir. 2006)(same).
The crimes of state mortgage fraud under § 570.310 and federal wire fraud under 18 U.S.C. § 1343 are not identical.  But § 339.100.5 does not require them to be in order to trigger a license revocation.  The standard is “similar in nature,” and we find it is readily satisfied here. 
Ms. Greer makes no substantial argument in this regard. She states she was not charged with, nor did she admit to commission of, the state law crime of mortgage fraud.  But whether she was, or did, is not required to trigger revocation under § 339.100.5(5). 

Ms. Greer’s license is subject to revocation under § 339.100.5, because the federal crime of wire fraud is an offense similar in nature to the state crime of wire fraud.  

We now turn to Ms. Greer’s remaining arguments, which she bases on constitutional principles.
C.  § 339.100.5 and subparagraph (5)

can be constitutionally applied to revoke Ms. Greer’s license 
Preliminarily, we note that we do not take Ms. Greer’s constitution-based arguments to be directed at the facial validity of § 339.100.5, but at how the law should be applied in her circumstances.  It is axiomatic that our “adjudicative power . . . extends only to determination of facts and to application of existing law to the facts in order to resolve the issues confided to the agency expertise.”  Air Evac EMS v. Director of Revenue, 779 S.W.2d 573, 575-576 (Mo. banc 1989)(emphasis in original).  Only the judiciary can declare the law.  E.g., Cocktail Fortune, Inc. v. Dir. of Liquor Control, 994 S.W.2d 955, 957 (Mo. banc 1999); State Tax Comm’n v. Admin. Hearing Comm’n, 641 S.W.2d 69, 75 (Mo. banc 1982)(courts declare the law, executive agencies cannot declare validity or invalidity of statutes and rules).  
Here, Ms. Greer argues that to avoid unconstitutional application of § 339.100.5 to her, the statute must be read to apply prospectively.  While such an argument, perforce, requires us to address constitutional principles, we do not believe we are usurping a judicial function in doing so.  We are statutorily charged to make findings of fact and conclusions of law in licensing cases, § 621.045.1, RSMo, and as noted, we do not take Ms. Greer’s constitutional challenges to be facial ones. 
Moreover, existing law addresses her arguments. 
  

Accordingly, we address them.
1.  Subparagraph (5) does not operate retrospectively
The Missouri Constitution, art. I, § 13, provides “[t]hat no ex post facto law, nor law impairing the obligation of contracts, or retrospective in its operation, or making any irrevocable grant of special privileges or immunities, can be enacted.”  The prohibition of retrospective laws “does not mean that no statute relating to past transactions can be constitutionally passed, but rather, that none can be allowed to operate retrospectively so as to affect such past transactions to the substantial prejudice of parties interested.’” Mo. Real Estate Comm’n v. Rayford, 307 S.W.3d 686, 690 (Mo. App. W.D. 2010)(quoting State v. Thomaston, 726 S.W.2d 448, 460 (Mo. App. W.D. 1987)).  
A law is retrospective in operation for purposes of Article I, § 13 if it “either takes away or impairs a vested or substantial right or imposes a new obligation, duty, or disability with respect to a past transaction.”  Rayford, 307 S.W.3d at 690 (emphasis in original) (citing F.R. v. St. Charles Co. Sheriff’s Dep’t, 301 S.W.3d 56, 61-62 (Mo. banc 2010)(stating references to vested rights or new obligation, duty or disability are disjunctive options, and finding of retrospective application can be based on either option)). Where a law would operate retrospectively, in violation of Article I, § 13, it must be applied prospectively.  Rayford, 307 S.W.3d at 689-690.  
As discussed below, Ms. Greer satisfies neither disjunctive definition.

a. No vested or
substantial right

Like the instant case, Rayford involved the MREC and licensure.  Kenneth Rayford pleaded nolo contendere to second-degree murder in 1970, was incarcerated for 28 years, and obtained his real estate salesperson’s license in 2003 or 2004.  307 S.W.3d at 688.  In 2005, the predecessor to the current version of § 339.100.5 first took effect, requiring among other things the revocation of a real estate salesperson’s license when the licensee had pleaded nolo contendere to a dangerous felony, including second-degree murder.  Id. at 689.  In 2007, the MREC sought to revoke Mr. Rayford’s license, and he argued that application of the law to him would be retrospective.  Id.  
The appellate court held Mr. Rayford could not meet the first disjunctive definition of a retrospective law because professional licensure, including licensure as a real estate salesperson, is not a vested or substantial right.  Id. at 690-691.  Rather, professional licensure is a privilege, “subject to the laws and regulations which authorized its issuance in the first place, which is the antitheses of a vested right.”  Id. at 691.  See also Garozzo v. Mo. Dep’t of Ins., Fin. Inst. & Prof’l Registration, Div. of Fin., no. SC92152, 2013 WL 331251, at *4 (Mo. banc Jan. 29, 2013)(professional licensure is a privilege, not a vested right).

Likewise here, Ms. Greer has no vested or substantial right in her licensure as a real estate broker-salesperson.
b. No imposition of new obligation,
duty, or disability
The Rayford court then examined the second disjunctive definition of a retrospective law:  whether the law impermissibly imposed a new obligation, duty or disability with respect to a past transaction.  Id. at 693-695.  The court explained that when a law “looks solely at [a] past plea…and uses that conduct not as a basis for future decision-making by the state but to impose a new duty on [a licensee] to relinquish an existing license and/or a new disability on [the licensee] of per se ineligibility to hold an existing license[,]” the law is retrospective.  Id. at 695.  
As noted, Mr. Rayford pleaded nolo contendere in 1970 to second degree murder, obtained his real estate salesperson’s license in 2003 or 2004, and the law mandating license revocation took effect in 2005.  Id. at 688-689.  Because he was licensed and pleaded guilty to a disqualifying offense prior to the effective date of § 339.100.5, the law could not be applied to revoke his license.  Id. at 695.  The court concluded that such an application would violate the constitutional ban against retrospective laws.  Id. at 699.  
But, the Rayford court further explained, the law would not be retrospective, and can be applied, in the case of a “licensee who pleads guilty to, or is found guilty of, a qualifying criminal offense subsequent to the effective date of” the law.  Id. at 695-696 (emphasis added).  
The Missouri Supreme Court examined a scenario analogous to Rayford in State v. Holden, 278 S.W.3d 674 (Mo. banc 2009).  In January 1995, statutory registration requirements for certain sex offenders, including persons who committed child sodomy, went into effect, with criminal penalties for noncompliance. Id. at 676.
  William Holden pled guilty to child sodomy later in 1995, and was incarcerated until 2001.  Id.   He began complying with the registration requirements upon release, but failed to timely register a change of address as required by the 1995 law.  Id.   He was found guilty and was incarcerated.   Id.   
The Court held the registration law was not retrospective in operation with regard to Mr. Holden.  Id. at 679. “The key factor” was the language of the registration statute, which 

focuses on those convicted, found guilty of, or who have pled guilty to the underlying offense and who have not timely registered their address. The trigger date for purposes of retrospective analysis is the date of the conviction or plea, not the date of the underlying offense. Therefore, if the plea or conviction occurred prior to the effective date of the statute, the registration requirements are retrospective in nature. It follows that so long as the plea or conviction occurs after the effective date of the statute, as in this case, the registration requirements are not retrospective in operation, regardless of the date the underlying offense was committed.
Id. at 678 (emphasis added).  When Mr. Holden pled guilty to the underlying offense, the registration requirements had already been in effect for several months.  Id. at 679.  Therefore, as applied to Mr. Holden, the law was not retrospective in operation.  Id. 
Here, § 339.100.5 and subparagraph (5) focus on those who have “pleaded guilty to, entered a plea of nolo contendere to, or been found guilty of” certain offenses, including mortgage fraud and offenses similar in nature to it.  Ms. Greer pleaded guilty to the federal crime in 2011, when § 339.100.5(5) had already been in effect for about three years.  Applying the Rayford and Holden analyses, the relevant trigger date is the date of her plea (2011), not—as Ms. Greer argues—the date of her underlying bad act (2005).  Because her 2011 plea occurred subsequent to the 2008 effective date of § 339.100.5(5), the law does not impose upon her a new obligation, duty or disability with respect to a past transaction.
Applying § 339.100.5(5) to revoke Ms. Greer’s license does not violate the constitutional ban against laws retrospective in operation.  
D.  No due process violation

Ms. Greer argues in conclusory fashion that applying § 339.100.5(5) to revoke her license violates due process. We do not know whether she claims a violation of procedural or substantive due process, or both.  Her due process rights are not violated.
The federal and Missouri constitutional protections of due process prohibit the State from depriving a person of her property without notice and opportunity to be heard. Crum v. Vincent, 493 F.3d 988, 993 (8th Cir. 2007).
  Generally. a person who holds a professional license issued by the State has a property interest in that license and is entitled to due process. Id. at 993 (reviewing due process protections surrounding physician’s property interest in state-issued medical license). See also Garozzo, 2013 WL 331251, at *6 (same).    

Here, the MREC does not dispute that Ms. Greer has a property interest in her license.  The undisputed facts demonstrate Ms. Greer received notice from the MREC that it was considering revocation of her license and had scheduled a hearing. She appeared before the MREC, was represented, and offered a witness at the hearing, before the MREC revoked her license. She received ample procedural due process.
A substantive due process violation requires an individual to “demonstrate both that the official's conduct was conscience-shocking, and that the official violated one or more fundamental rights that are deeply rooted in this Nation's history and tradition, and implicit in the concept of ordered liberty, such that neither liberty nor justice would exist if they were sacrificed.”  Bromwell, 361 S.W.3d at 400 (quoting Slusarchuk v. Hoff, 346 F.3d 1178, 1181-1182 (8th Cir. 2003)(emphasis in original, internal quotations omitted)).  Generally, “the denial of a professional license to one who has pleaded guilty to a felony [does not] violate[] a deeply rooted fundamental right implicit in the concept of ordered liberty.”  Garozzo, 2013 WL 331251, at *6.    
We fail to see how revocation of a license to practice the state-regulated profession of real estate broker and salesperson, pursuant to a statutory provision that had been in place for at least a few years by the time she entered her guilty plea, could shock the conscience, let alone how the revocation could violate fundamental rights, so as to interfere with concepts of ordered liberty and justice. 
Application of § 339.100.5(5) to revoke Ms. Greer’s license does not violate her right to due process, whether procedural or substantive.
E.  No ex post facto violation

The constitutional prohibition against ex post facto laws applies only to criminal legislation. Rayford, 307 S.W.3d at 689-690 (citation and quotation omitted).  That a regulatory scheme may reference a criminal law, or include a trigger found in the criminal law, does not make the regulatory scheme itself criminal in nature for the purpose of the ex post facto prohibition.  Cf. Doe v. Phillips, 194 S.W.3d 833, 842 (Mo. banc 2006)(holding that sex offender notification and registration law’s requirements were civil and regulatory in nature, not criminal; ex post facto clause did not apply). 
Section 339.100.5(5) is part of the regulatory scheme relating to real estate brokers and salespersons.  That commission of the crime of mortgage fraud or a similar offense triggers a licensure consequence does not make § 339.100.5(5) criminal in nature.  Nor does § 339.100.5(5) itself contain a criminal penalty.  The statue is manifestly civil and regulatory.  
Application of § 339.100.5(5) to revoke Ms. Greer’s license does not violate her right to be free from ex post facto laws. 
Summary


The MREC’s motion for summary decision is granted.  This Commission’s order staying the revocation of Ms. Greer’s license is set aside, and her license is revoked under § 339.100.5(5).

SO ORDERED on February 22, 2013.
______________________________








Alana M. Barragán-Scott








Commissioner 
� 	References to “RSMo” are to the Revised Statutes of Missouri, Supplement 2012, unless otherwise noted.





� 	Her license was inactive for the period between July 9, 2012 (when revoked by the MREC) and August 27, 2102 (when she appealed to this Commission and we stayed the revocation). It expires in June 2014.


� 	The Missouri Court of Appeals, Western District, issued a decision in 2010 in a case very similar to and largely dispositive of the instant one—Mo. Real Estate Comm’n v. Rayford, 307 S.W.3d 686—and it is discussed in detail below.  We are mindful that in Rayford, the Western District stated this Commission could not reach “the constitutionality of [the] retroactive application of [§ 339.100.5].”  Id. at 689.  Rayford is now existing law, and it is our duty to apply it.  


� 	The Supreme Court issued the mandate in Garozzo on February 14, 2013 and notified Thomson Reuters.  But as of the date of this Commission’s decision herein, Garozzo has not yet been assigned a South Western Reporter citation.


� 	Among other things, offenders were required to register changes of residence address and phone number within ten days of the change, by notifying the chief law enforcement official of the county.  § 589.400, RSMo. (Supp. 2006). 





� 	Missouri courts construe our state constitution’s due process protections. Article 1, § 10, “to be congruent with the Fourteenth Amendment's guarantees.”  Bromwell v. Nixon, 361 S.W.3d 393, 400 (Mo. banc 2012)(quoting Doe v. Phillips, 194 S.W.3d 833, 841 (Mo. banc 2006)).
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